Historic Resources Survey Report
Central City North Community Plan Area

Prepared for:
City of Los Angeles
Department of City Planning
Office of Historic Resources

Prepared by:
HISTORIC RESOURCES GROUP
Pasadena, CA

September 2016
# Table of Contents

## Project Overview

SurveyLA Methodology Summary  
Project Team  
Survey Area  
Designated Resources  
Community Plan Area Survey Methodology  

## Summary of Findings

Summary of Property Types  
Summary of Contexts and Themes  

## For Further Reading

## Appendices

Appendix A: Individual Resources  
Appendix B: Non-Parcel Resources  
Appendix C: Historic Districts & Planning Districts
Project Overview

This historic resources survey report ("Survey Report") has been completed on behalf of the City of Los Angeles Department of City Planning’s Office of Historic Resources (OHR) for the SurveyLA historic resources survey of the Central City North Community Plan Area (CPA). This project was undertaken in two phases: the first phase was conducted between September 2011 and May 2012 by Sapphos Environmental, Inc. (Sapphos); the second phase was conducted by Historic Resources Group (HRG) between October 2015 and September 2016.

When the Central City North CPA was originally surveyed by Sapphos, the Industrial Development Context had not yet been developed and, therefore, industrially-zoned parcels were not surveyed at that time. Additionally, the Chinese American Historic Context had not been fully developed although Chinatown and other resources associated with the Chinese American community within the CPA were surveyed. Since then, both of these historic contexts have been completed. Therefore, the purpose of the second phase survey was to: (a) survey the industrially-zoned properties previously excluded, (b) review properties identified in the Chinese American Historic Context and revise data as needed, and (c) add some additional properties missed during the previous survey. This Survey Report includes survey findings from both surveys phases completed by Sapphos and HRG.

This report provides a summary of the work completed, including a description of the Survey Area; an overview of the field methodology; a summary of relevant contexts, themes, and property types; and complete lists of all recorded resources. This Survey Report is intended to be used in conjunction with the SurveyLA Field Results Master Report ("Master Report") which provides a detailed discussion of SurveyLA methodology and explains the terms used in this report and associated appendices. The Master Report, Survey Report, and Appendices are available at www.surveyla.org.

SurveyLA Methodology Summary

Below is a brief summary of SurveyLA methodology. Refer to the Master Report discussed above for more information.

Field Survey Methods

- Properties surveyed for SurveyLA are evaluated for eligibility for listing in the National Register of Historic Places, California Register of Historical Resources, and for local designation as Historic-Cultural Monuments (HCM) or Historic Preservation Overlay Zones (HPOZ), commonly known as historic districts.
SurveyLA Resources Types

SurveyLA identifies individual resources, non-parcel resources, historic districts and district contributors and non-contributors. Each of these is described below. Appendices A, B, and C are organized by resource type.

- **Individual Resources** are generally resources located within a single assessor parcel, such as a residence. However, a parcel may include more than one individual resource, if each appears to be significant.

- **Non-Parcel Resources** are not associated with Assessor Parcel Numbers (APNs) and generally do not have addresses. Examples include street trees, street lights, landscaped medians, bridges, and signs.

- **Historic Districts** are areas that are related geographically and by theme. Districts may include single or multiple parcels, depending on the resource. Examples of resources that may be recorded as historic districts include residential neighborhoods, garden apartments, commercial areas, large estates, school and hospital campuses, and industrial complexes.

- **District Contributors and Non-Contributors** are buildings, structures, sites, objects, and other features located within historic districts. Generally, non-contributing resources are those that are extensively altered, built outside the period
of significance, or that do not relate to historic contexts and themes defined for the district.

- **Planning Districts** are areas that are related geographically and by theme, but do not meet eligibility standards for designation. This is generally because the majority of the contributing features have been altered, resulting in a cumulative impact on the overall integrity of the area that makes it ineligible as a Historic District. The Planning District determination, therefore, is used as a tool to inform new Community Plans being developed by the Department of City Planning. These areas have consistent planning features – such as height, massing, setbacks, and street trees – which warrant consideration in the local planning process.

### Project Team

The Central City North CPA survey was conducted by Sapphos and HRG. Sapphos personnel included Leslie Heumann, Historic Resources Manager; Marlise Fratinardo, Cultural Resources Senior Coordinator/Project Manager; and Laura Carías, Cultural Resources Coordinator. Additional assistance was provided by Sapphos intern Marilyn Novell.

HRG personnel included Kari Michele Fowler, Senior Preservation Planner; Christine Lazzaretto, Principal; Heather Goers, Architectural Historian; Robby Aranguren, Planning Associate, and Christy Johnson McAvoy, Founding Principal. Additional assistance was provided by HRG intern Scott Watson. Kari Fowler served as the project manager.

### Survey Area

#### Description of the Survey Area

The identified survey area ("Survey Area") corresponds with the boundaries for the Central City North Community Plan Area (CPA). Located immediately to the north and east of downtown Los Angeles, the Survey Area is bounded generally by Stadium Way, Lilac Terrace, and North Broadway to the north; the Los Angeles River to the east; 25th Street to the south; and Alameda Street, Cesar E. Chavez Avenue, Sunset Boulevard, and Marview Avenue to the west. The Survey Area is surrounded by the CPAs of Silver Lake-Echo Park-Elysian Valley and Northeast Los Angeles to the north, Boyle Heights to the east, and Central City to the west, as well as the City of Vernon to the south. (See Survey Area Map below.)
The CPA consists of a total of 7,728 parcels. Of these, approximately 6,836 parcels were surveyed by SurveyLA. Survey LA generally does not include properties constructed after 1980; individual resources and historic districts (including HPOZs) designated under federal, state, or local programs; or Community Redevelopment Area (CRA) surveys conducted concurrent with SurveyLA. In Central City North, the survey area also does not include properties within the Cornfield Arroyo Seco Specific Plan (CASP) area.

The topography of the Survey Area is generally flat – a characteristic reflected in the area’s largely orthogonal street patterns – with some hilly areas in the northwestern part of the CPA. The Survey Area is traversed by several major thoroughfares, including the north/south corridors of Alameda Street, North Broadway, North Spring Street, and North Main Street, and the east/west corridors of Cesar E. Chavez Boulevard, 1st Street, 4th Street, Olympic Boulevard, and Washington Boulevard. The Survey Area is also served by three major freeways: the Pasadena (110) Freeway to the north; the Hollywood (101) Freeway, which runs east/west through the central portion of the Survey Area; and the Santa Monica (10) Freeway, which runs east/west through the southern portion of the Survey Area. The Los Angeles River defines the eastern border of the CPA.

The Survey Area is composed of low- to medium-density urban land uses, including residential, commercial, industrial, and institutional properties. South of Cesar E. Chavez Boulevard, the vast majority of the Survey Area is composed of industrial development. Residential development is contained almost exclusively in the northwestern portion of the CPA. Commercial development is primarily concentrated in the northern portion of the CPA along Alameda Street, which serves as a major commercial and traffic corridor, and in the Chinatown commercial district. Open space, including the Los Angeles State Historic Park, and public facilities comprise the remainder of the land within the CPA.

Development History

As part of the land which comprised the original settlement of Los Angeles, the Central City North CPA contains some of the earliest development in Los Angeles and reflects the city’s transformation from a modest settlement of eleven families into a thriving modern metropolis. The original pueblo was developed to the south and west of the present-day Survey Area; the first residences, commercial establishments, and civic and religious institutions were developed here, and the area functioned as the nexus of political, economic, and cultural life in early Los Angeles.

---

1 For designated resources within the CPA at the time of the survey, refer to the Designated Resources map below. For the most up-to-date information on designated resources, go to zimas.lacity.org or www.HistoricPlacesLA.org, or contact the Department of City Planning’s Office of Historic Resources.

2 The historic resources survey for the Cornfield Arroyo Seco Specific Plan area was completed in 2011. The survey report is available at www.surveyla.org.
As the land comprising the present-day Survey Area was originally situated immediately adjacent to the pueblo, the area has historically fulfilled a variety of needs for the nearby community, and has remained in continuous use since its initial organization in 1781. Today, the CPA is an amalgamation of three areas with vastly different character, reflecting the evolving use of each neighborhood. The area north of the pueblo – the northern portion of the present-day Survey Area – includes Chinatown as well as remnant examples of early residential development in Los Angeles; it embodies the historical pattern of immigrant settlement in Los Angeles and the subsequent development of ethnic communities within the city. The northern portion of the CPA encompasses Los Angeles State Historic Park. The southern portion of the present-day CPA – between Alameda Street and the Los Angeles River – was first utilized for agricultural purposes by inhabitants of the nearby pueblo and later evolved in the city’s first industrial district.

The Los Angeles State Historic Park is known to most Angelenos by its distinguishing feature, “The Cornfield.” Southern Pacific Railroad purchased The Cornfield in the late 1800s and used the land as a freight depot and switch yard until the late 1990s. In 2001, the land was put up for sale. Eager to bring jobs and tax revenue to this area of the city, then-Mayor Richard Riordan solicited one of the nation’s largest real estate developers, Majestic Realty Co., to purchase the land. However, the Chinatown Yards Alliance, a multi-ethnic coalition of over thirty neighborhood, civil rights, and environmental organizations, sued Majestic and raised $30 million from the State of California to purchase the land for a state park. Most recently, the area has become the focal point of a redevelopment plan called the Cornfield Arroyo Seco Specific Plan. This area is also home to a notable remnant example of the area’s early history of agricultural activities. In 1831, Don Abel Stearns obtained land to construct a flour mill at 1231 N. Spring Street, which would become Eagle Mills (1855) and later Capitol Mills (1883). Today known as Capitol Milling, this is the only extant property in the CPA that reflects the area’s agricultural past, and is the oldest industrial building in Los Angeles.

Much of the northern portion of the CPA was historically the home of arriving immigrants. Central City North was the symbolic cultural center for a number of the region’s most prominent ethnic groups, encompassing Chinatown, parts of Little Tokyo, parts of the original Mexican pueblo, and Little Italy. Among the area’s first immigrant residents were new arrivals from northern Mexico. From the 1850s until the early-20th century, the area now known as Chinatown was home to L.A.’s first barrio called Sonoratown. The neighborhood acquired its name during the years of California’s Gold Rush, when a wave of miners and other migrants from the Mexican province of Sonora

---

3 This discussion of the history of The Cornfield is adapted and excerpted from “Community Organizing in Los Angeles Chinatown: Historical Case Study of the Cornfields.”
4 The Cornfield Arroyo Seco Specific Plan Area was not re-surveyed by SurveyLA.
settled there.\textsuperscript{7} By 1870, approximately 230 Chinese immigrants lived near where Union Station stands today, and by the 1890s Croatian, Dalmatian, French, and Italian immigrants had also settled in the area. Early residential and commercial tracts in the present-day Chinatown area included the Bernard Tract (1882), Rosas Tract (1882), West Rosas Tract (1883), Park Tract (1885), Buena Vista Tract (1886), and Victor Heights Tract (1886). Later subdividers included Victor and Prudent Beaudry and C. E. Day. Residential construction typically consisted of modest, one-story vernacular cottages, though some were designed in the then popular Victorian-era styles, examples of which remain today.

While the downtown area remained the major focus of commercial and institutional activity, ethnic enclaves in the surrounding area developed stores, offices, and localized service industries to support their growing populations. Extant examples include hospitals, schools, and churches. Perhaps the oldest extant example is the French Hospital, now known as the Pacific Alliance Medical Center (PAMC), which was constructed by the French Society in 1869. The second oldest hospital in Los Angeles, it offered healthcare and medical services to French-American citizens and newly-arrived French immigrants, as well as to the greater community, and stands today as the second-oldest hospital in Los Angeles.\textsuperscript{8} A more visible sign of the hospital’s history is the statue of Joan of Arc at the corner of Hill and College streets, a reminder of the French community’s presence in the neighborhood’s early days.

The Castelar Street Elementary School is the second oldest continuously operating elementary school in the Los Angeles Unified School District. Established in 1882, the school originally consisted of a four-room building in which four teachers (including the principal) taught 300 to 400 children.\textsuperscript{9} Castelar has undergone several transformations over time, although its 1923 main classroom building remains. More recently, it became the first school in the district with trilingual instruction (Chinese-English-Spanish). Betsy Ross High School, now Evans Community High School, was constructed in 1918. The area includes two ethnic Catholic churches. St. Peter’s Italian Catholic Church was first established in 1904, when it originally occupied a small structure on N. Spring Street.\textsuperscript{10} It moved to its present site on N. Broadway in 1915, in the heart of what was then Little Italy. A fire destroyed the stone chapel in 1944 and the current church was completed in 1947. Although Italian Americans are now dispersed throughout Los Angeles County, the church and the adjacent Casa Italiana social hall (Italian Hall) remain an important part of the community.\textsuperscript{11} St. Anthony’s Croatian Catholic Church

\textsuperscript{7} “Sonoratown: Downtown L.A.’s Forgotten Neighborhood.”


\textsuperscript{9} The following discussion of the Castelar Street Elementary School is excerpted from “Exploring Chinatown: Past and Present.”

\textsuperscript{10} The following discussion of St. Peter’s Italian Catholic Church is excerpted from “Exploring Chinatown: Past and Present.”

\textsuperscript{11} The Italian American Museum of Los Angeles opened in Casa Italiana in 2016.
Survey

Central City North Community Plan Area

was founded in 1910 after a large influx of Croatians began arriving in Los Angeles at the turn of the twentieth century. Propelled west by the economic and political unrest in Croatia, they were lured to Los Angeles by the construction jobs available in the city’s booming downtown and settled in the present-day Chinatown neighborhood. Few Croatian Americans reside in Chinatown today, yet St. Anthony’s maintains an active role in the Croatian American community.

The first permanent settlement of Chinese in Los Angeles, commonly referred to as “Old Chinatown,” prospered around the Plaza at El Pueblo, south of the Survey Area. This first Chinatown was a block-long enclave concentrated along “Calle de los Negros,” a short alley between the Plaza and Arcadia Street to the south. Old Chinatown was the center of community for Chinese in Los Angeles and included both living quarters and places of employment, in addition to religious institutions and meeting halls for community organizations. By 1880, the Chinese were the largest minority group in the city, with a population totaling more than 500. As early as 1913, the area encompassing Old Chinatown was proposed for conversion into a warehouse and industrial district with a new railroad terminal. Sentiment for clearance of Old Chinatown buildings to enable construction of the new station was strong, reflecting anti-Chinese sentiment and the perception of Chinatown as dangerous and undesirable. From the mid-1910s until the early 1930s, Chinese civic leaders and investors struggled to acquire property in Old Chinatown to protect the community. Although the proposal for the new rail terminal was embroiled in legal disputes for many years, the California Supreme Court upheld the approval of land condemnations for Old Chinatown in 1931. Within two years, much of Old Chinatown was demolished and construction of Union Station began in 1934.

In response to the displacement of the occupants of “Old Chinatown,” businessman and community leader Peter Soo Hoo Sr. joined with other Chinese business owners to create the Los Angeles Chinatown Project Association (later renamed the Los Angeles Chinatown Corporation) in 1937. The association gathered their own personal finances to purchase a plot of land to the north, between Broadway and Hill Street, from the Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe Railway for the establishment of a new Chinatown. The “New Chinatown” development was conceptualized by Chinese American civic leaders who sought to counter common perceptions of Chinatowns as dangerous neighborhoods of unpaved, crime-filled alleyways. By incorporating romantic stereotypes associated with China, the development was unique in that Chinese Americans controlled and distributed these images to visitors with the goal of

---

12 The following discussion of St. Anthony’s Croatian Catholic Church is excerpted from “Exploring Chinatown: Past and Present.”

SurveyLA
Central City North Community Plan Area
establishing New Chinatown as an important tourist destination and integral economic force in Los Angeles.

To this end, the association engaged architects Erle Webster and Adrian Wilson to create a master plan for a pedestrian village and to design a number of individual buildings and features. Webster & Wilson drafted a plan for a low-scale commercial center oriented around a system of interior pedestrian streets and a central plaza. Asian Eclectic in style, buildings display complex rooflines with colorful tiles, flared eaves with decoratively carved roof beams, geometric window screens, representations of various animals, and colored neon. Two “pailou,” or gateways at Hill Street and Broadway were erected in 1938 and 1939, respectively, not only to anchor the entrances to the development, but also to establish its overall aesthetic. Other features of the development included a wishing well near West Gate designed to resemble the Sacred Seven Star Cavern in China, and a landscaped fish pool near East Gate, both designed by Liu Hong Kay.

The new development opened to the public on June 25, 1938, as “Los Angeles Chinatown.” Unlike the previous centers of Chinese residency in Los Angeles, this development would be owned by Chinese businessmen, making it the first Chinese enclave to be owned and developed by Chinese Americans. A number of business and organizations that had been displaced from Old Chinatown made the move to the new development. Notable among these were the Hop Sing Tong, one of the oldest Chinese fraternal organizations in Los Angeles; and the Los Angeles branch of the Kong Chow Benevolent Association, founded in Old Chinatown in 1891. K.G. Louie Company, an art and gift store, moved to New Chinatown in 1938 from downtown Los Angeles. Other long-time establishments in New Chinatown include The Golden Pagoda (later Hop Louie’s Jade Pagoda), and the Grand Star Jazz Club. New Chinatown was also the site of Madame Wong’s, a renowned live music venue that played a pivotal role in Los Angeles’ punk rock and new wave scenes of the 1970s and ‘80s. New Chinatown continues to serve as the cultural heart and primary gathering place for Los Angeles’ Chinese American community as well as a popular tourist destination.

Hoping to recreate the success of New Chinatown, in the late 1940s the Los Angeles Chinatown Corporation sought to expand across Hill Street with a new pedestrian-oriented mixed-use development called “Greater Chinatown.” The design included nine buildings containing a total of fifty-five two-story units – each with a commercial storefront on the ground story and residential above – to be leased to Chinese American business owners. The development is oriented around a paved central plaza, known as Chungking Plaza or West Plaza, anchored by a landscaped water feature. The Greater Chinatown development was completed in 1950. As with New Chinatown, Greater Chinatown was owned and developed by Chinese Americans, with a number of businesses and organizations relocating here from Old Chinatown, including the F. See On Company and the Hoy Sun Ning Yung Benevolent Association.
While most of the northern portion of the CPA was developed prior to World War II, several notable examples of postwar architecture remain extant within the Survey Area, including the Cathay Bank, the Bank of America, and the Metropolitan Water District Headquarters. The Cathay Bank was born of necessity, at a time when Chinese Americans faced discrimination by financial institutions and businesses that often denied them loans and other banking services.\(^{14}\) Founded by prominent businessmen in the Chinatown community, Cathay Bank was the first Chinese American bank in California and the first to specifically address the needs of the growing Chinese American population. Its commitment to equality is reflected in its motto: An Open Door for All. The bank was designed by noted architect Eugene Kinn Choy, the second Chinese American to join the American Institute of Architects. Other examples of Choy’s work in Chinatown include the Chinese Consolidated Benevolent Association (CCBA) and the Jin Hing Jewelry Store. Like the CCBA, Cathay Bank is a hallmark of Modern design combined with traditional Chinese architectural elements.

Bank of America, the first major national bank to move to Chinatown, opened a branch only after the success of Chinese American-owned banks such as Cathay and East West Bank.\(^{15}\) Noted Chinese American architect Gilbert L. Leong incorporated classical Chinese architecture into the Modern structure through features such as an imported jade-green tile roof. In addition to Bank of America, Leong built many iconic structures in his childhood neighborhood, including the Kong Chow Family Association and Temple, the Chinese United Methodist Church, and later, East West Bank, where he served as a founding director.\(^{16}\)

The Metropolitan Water District (MWD) of Southern California headquarters was designed by noted Los Angeles architect William Pereira and served as the first permanent location for the MWD. Occupying on oval-shaped hillside lot above Sunset Boulevard, the complex includes a low-rise building (1962), an office tower (1972), and extensive landscaping and hardscaping, along with a parking structure on a neighboring parcel.

The portion of the CPA south of Cesar E. Chavez Boulevard, between Alameda Street and the Los Angeles River, served as the city’s primary industrial district for decades, and continues to be characterized by industrial building types throughout. This area was first utilized as agricultural land by inhabitants of the Pueblo, and later for cattle ranching until the 1830s, when it became part of a vineyard operated by Frenchman Jean-Louis Vignes. Attracted by the area’s Mediterranean climate, Vignes began planting grapes in 1833, and by 1847 his vineyard, “El Aliso,” was the largest producer of wine in

\[^{14}\] The following discussion of the Cathay Bank is excerpted from “Exploring Chinatown: Past and Present.”

\[^{15}\] The following discussion of the Bank of America is excerpted from “Exploring Chinatown: Past and Present.”

\[^{16}\] Research suggests that Chinese American architect Richard Layne Tom worked with Leong on the design of Chinatown’s Bank of America.
California and one of the centers of cultural life in Los Angeles. Other vintners soon followed, and the flourishing wine industry proved to be the saving grace of the fledgling regional economy, when a drought in 1862 decimated the cattle industry. The 1849 Gold Rush brought a large demand for citrus fruit which was used to protect against scurvy, a common malady of miners. Thus, oranges and grapefruit quickly overtook grapes as the area’s primary crops. Los Angeles’ citrus industry flourished during this period and, as a result, the area remained predominantly agricultural until 1871, when the northern portion was subdivided as the Johnston Tract and subsequently developed with single-family residences. Other tracts subdivided during this period included the Thomas Tract (1875) and the Bigelow Tract (1887). However, the landscape of the area evolved again during the last decades of the 19th century, as rail lines and manufacturing plants emerged to serve the citrus industry’s shipping needs. Soon the character of the area would be redefined by the presence of the railroad.

Until the 1870s, only local rail lines ran through Los Angeles. But in 1876, the opening of the Southern Pacific Railroad line from San Francisco linked the city with the transcontinental railroad. A depot for the Southern Pacific line was constructed at the southwest corner of Alameda and 5th streets, just outside the Survey Area. The Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe Railroad (AT&SF) constructed a depot and freight yards south of 1st Street in 1885; in 1893, the company also constructed the distinctive Moorish Revival style La Grande Station at 2nd and Santa Fe streets. The Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe Railway Outbound Freight House (known as the Santa Fe Freight Depot) was constructed in 1906 to accommodate the majority of goods shipped out of Los Angeles on rail by the AT&SF. It was originally paired with the AT&SF Railway Inbound Freight House directly across Santa Fe Avenue. Today, the AT&SF Outbound Freight House stands as the last remaining historic reference to the Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe Railroad along Santa Fe Avenue in Los Angeles.

While most of these early railroad buildings have been lost, their locations and relative proximity to one another motivated the development of the surrounding area as an industrial district. By the turn of the 20th century, businesses had begun to capitalize on the convenience of locating their operations near these rail lines. However, industrial development in the area did not begin in earnest until the subdivision of two substantial tracts specifically dedicated for industrial use: the Industrial Tract, recorded in 1903 by the Industrial Realty Company; and the Industrial Center Tract, recorded in 1904. The development of these two tracts came to define the southernmost edge of concentrated industrial development in the Survey Area, terminating at present-day 7th Street. While industrial development did occur further south, in the southernmost portion of the CPA, extant examples of early industrial development in that area do not

---

17 Miller, 18.
18 Miller, 20.
19 Miller, 21.
20 The building is now occupied by the Southern California Institute of Architecture (SCI-Arc) and is a Los Angeles Historic-Cultural Monument (HCM #795).
reflect as cohesive a pattern of development as they do above 7th Street. A 1909 map of the area notes the large number of warehouses and storage facilities which had been constructed in just a few years, as well as a wide variety of processing and manufacturing operations – including lumber yards, freight yards, ice and cold storage, slaughterhouses and meatpackers, produce companies and canneries, and blacksmiths, among others.

As the railroads increased mobility, Los Angeles ceased to be simply a market for manufactured goods produced in San Francisco and the East, but began to support local industries as well. Similarly, as agricultural activities in other areas of the city supplanted those near the city center, the area evolved from simply a shipping hub to a processing and manufacturing center in its own right. In particular, businesses related to the building trades had expanded rapidly beginning in the 1880s when the first regional real estate boom spurred residential and commercial construction. As a result, a number of lumber, construction, and even furniture trades established operations in the area.

In the early decades of the 20th century, many of the area’s industrial buildings were one of two types: manufacturing or processing facilities and warehouses. Many of the area’s industrial buildings were constructed directly on a rail spur; these buildings often display curved facades that follow the tracks, with docks and large bay doors set several feet above the ground (to the height of a boxcar), to facilitate the loading and unloading of goods. Warehouses were built either as general storage facilities – with space that could be rented by a variety of companies or operators – or were purpose-built facilities associated with a particular company. Examples of general warehouses include the Pacific Commercial Warehouse (1910), the Bekins Van & Storage Co. warehouse (1923), and the Metropolitan Warehouse Company (1924). Purpose-built warehouses constructed during this period include those built for J.R. Newberry & Co. (1900), Barker Bros. Furniture (1920 and 1923), Cheek-Neal Coffee Co. (1924), and Hills Bros. Coffee Co. (1929).

As new local industries established themselves, processing and manufacturing operations in the area continued to expand. Two industries in particular flourished during this period: ice and cold storage, and food processing and packaging. Cold storage emerged in response to the demand for fresh products in urban areas, and provided a critical link between agricultural goods from farms, fisheries, and ranches and their distribution to fresh produce markets and food processors. Construction of cold storage warehouses was initially integrally linked with that of ice-making plants, with both frequently located within the same facility. Several cold storage operations opened, including the Los Angeles Ice & Cold Storage Co. (now Rancho Cold Storage, 21 Los Angeles Conservancy. “The Arts District: History and Architecture in Downtown L.A.,” booklet produced in conjunction with a tour held on November 10, 2013, https://www.laconservancy.org/sites/default/files/files/documents/ArtsDistrict_Booklet_LR.pdf (accessed April 2016).
1905), the Union Ice Co. (now Union Central Cold Storage, 1907), and the Merchants’ Ice Co. (1910).

Food processing industries represented some of the earliest industrial development in Los Angeles, and exploded in operation during the 1910s and 1920s as companies began to more fully embrace mechanization in order to meet the demands of new chain stores. Food processing eventually became one of the dominant industries in the area. Among the most prominent were Globe Mills (trade name of Pillsbury Flour Mills Co., 1902), California Walnut Growers Association (later Diamond Walnut Co., 1921), Poultry Producers of Southern California (now Commercial Meat Co., 1923), Cheek-Neal Coffee Co. (later Maxwell House Coffee Co., 1924), the National Biscuit Company (now the Nabisco Lofts, 1925), Sperry Flour Co. (1926), Challenge Cream & Butter (1926), and Hills Bros. Coffee Co. (1929).

In addition to processing operations, manufacturing facilities expanded as well, with many companies constructing daylight factories to increase productivity. At a time when electricity was expensive and not always reliable, daylight factories were designed to maximize the amount of light reaching the interior of the building, featuring bays of large industrial sash windows, skylights, or other roof forms that bring in additional light. While many factories were essentially utilitarian in their outward appearance, several established companies engaged prominent architects to design their facilities, including Parkinson & Bergstrom (Pacific Commercial Warehouse, 1910), Hudson & Munsell (John A. Roebling’s Sons Co., now Angel City Brewery, 1913), John M. Copper (Globe Mills, 1916), and John Parkinson (Joannes Bros. Building, 1917). In a few cases, businesses engaged a company architect from their home city. For example, the Coca-Cola Syrup Manufacturing Plant, originally constructed in 1915, was substantially expanded and redesigned in the Late Moderne style in 1939 by Atlanta-based architect Jesse M. Shelton. Shelton designed a number of factories for the Coca-Cola Company during the 1930s and the 1940s, including those in Baltimore, New Orleans, and Boston, all of which strongly resemble the design of the Los Angeles building. Similarly, the Hills Bros. Coffee Co. retained San Francisco-based architect George W. Kelham to design their Los Angeles office building in 1929. Best known in Los Angeles for the original buildings on the campus of UCLA, Kelham had previously designed Hills Bros.’ flagship building situated along the Embarcadero in San Francisco.

A small number of non-industrial uses were also developed in the Survey Area in the early- to mid-20th century, many notable for their associations with the Japanese and African American populations in the area (more may be identified with additional intensive-level research). Small hotels that housed workers in the area include the Canadian Hotel (now the American Hotel). Constructed in 1906 and designed by Morgan & Walls, this four-story brick building was built as a first-class hotel for African-Americans, many of whom worked as Pullman car porters. Mixed-use commercial buildings include 606 E 1st Street (1913) designed by Morgan & Walls. It had a series of European American owners who leased space to Japanese American residential and commercial tenants (people born in Japan were legally prohibited from owning
property at that time). The building housed the Nankaiya Hotel on its second story for at least 20 years, providing furnished rooms to Japanese American single male lodgers as well as family households. The buildings’ first floor storefronts contained retail operations predominantly run by Japanese Americans, and its occupants between 1913 and 1940 included barbershops, restaurants, a secondhand goods store, a plumbing business, a grocery store, and a liquor store. Another notable example is 620 E 1st Street (1911) designed by architect J.E. Lacey. Originally constructed as a one-story store building, in 1913, owner Charles German had a residential second story (designed by E.B. Hogan Jr.) added. The building’s second story provided furnished rooms to Japanese Americans and its first story had Japanese-run businesses including a noodle manufacturer, barbershops, a tailor, a beverage shop, and a restaurant. Several utility outposts were also established, including an Edison electrical substation (1911) and a Department of Water & Power distributing station (1923).

By the 1920s, the area was fully established as an industrial hub. This was aided in part by the pattern of development occurring outside the central city. As the City of Los Angeles continued to annex existing communities as well as available land in the San Fernando Valley, zoning was amended to eliminate residential development in the downtown area. By 1922, the City had officially re-zoned the downtown area to accommodate the construction of more offices, retail, and manufacturing facilities. By the 1950s the area was home to automotive manufacturing, trucking and transport, furniture manufacturing and storage, paint and chemical manufacturing, and paper and plastic production – as well as historically dominant industries such as food processing and lumber and woodworking operations. While industries evolved over time, the area maintained its character as an industrial center, with one processing or manufacturing operations simply replacing another. Over the course of the 20th century a single manufacturing facility might house the production of everything from dog food to pie.22

By the 1960s, however, the character of the area was evolving away from that of an industrial center. Industry on the whole struggled to adapt to the postwar challenges of containerization and other new technologies.23 Railroads had given way to the trucking industry, and businesses in the area were constrained by the physical demands such methods placed on their operations. Furthermore, outlying fledgling industrial centers such as Vernon and the City of Commerce were comparatively undeveloped and offered plentiful land at lower prices, presenting many companies with an opportunity to relocate and construct newer and more efficient facilities.24 As a result, by the 1970s many buildings in the industrial district were vacant.

However, the area found new life as artists and other creative types began to congregate amidst the vacant buildings and empty lots. Priced out of established artists’ colonies in neighborhoods such as Venice and Hollywood, Los Angeles’ industrial district provided many with an opportunity to live and work inexpensively in vast

22 “The Arts District: History and Architecture in Downtown L.A.”
23 Miller, 28.
warehouse buildings. Soon, the area was home to a number of avant-garde art
galleries, giving rise to the group of early artists now called the “Young Turks.” Many
of the area’s most prominent industrial buildings found new life as gallery space and
underground hangouts for a burgeoning art and music scene. In 1981, the City of Los
Angeles implemented the Artist-in-Residence Program, which legalized the residential
use of formerly industrial buildings for artists, legitimizing their efforts. In the mid-
1990s, the area was officially designated as the Arts District by the City. A subsequent
wave of development began in 1999 with the passage of the Adaptive Reuse Ordinance
which relaxed zoning codes and allowed for the conversion of pre-1974 commercial
and industrial buildings into residences for artists and non-artists alike. Today, the
area continues to attract new commercial and residential development, as existing
facilities are adapted to meet the needs of the growing community.

25 Miller, 31.
26 An extensive discussion of the genesis of the Arts District can be found in Lindsey Miller’s “Isolation
   and Authenticity in Los Angeles’ Arts District Neighborhood.”
27 “The Arts District: History and Architecture in Downtown L.A.”
Development by Decade Map.
Designated Resources

The Central City North CPA contains one of the highest concentrations of designated and listed historic properties in Los Angeles. The following map depicts designated resources within the Central City North CPA at the time of the survey. These include properties listed or determined eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places (NR), properties listed in the California Register of Historical Resources (CR), as well as locally designated Los Angeles Historic-Cultural Monuments (HCMs). The CPA does not contain any designated Historic Preservation Overlay Zones (HPOZs).

Designated resources in the Central City North CPA dating from the late-19th century include the Godrey Hargitt Residence (1882), Capitol Milling Company (1883), Phillip Fritz Residence (1885), John A. Donnelly Residence (1886), Peter Nies Residence (1886), Angelo Pirre Residence (1890), Raphael Junction Block (1890), Charles B. Wellman Residence (1894), Samuel M. Storer Residence (1895), and Spirito Bodrero Residence (1896).

Early-20th century designated resources in the Central City North CPA include J.R. Newberry Company Building (1904), Santa Fe Freight Depot (1906), H.J. Heinz Co. Warehouse (1911), AT&SF Railway Redondo Junction/Butte Street Yard District (1913), Ford Motor Company Factory (1913), David-Harvey Inc. Building (1916), Southern California Gas Company Complex (1919-1936), Southern California Gas Company Office Building (1923), DWP Main Street Center (1923), National Biscuit Company “Nabisco” Building (1925), DWP Distributing Station No. 5 (1926), Cathedral High School (1927), Engine Company No. 17 (1927), Greybar Electrical Co. Warehouse (1934), New Chinatown West Gate (1938), New Chinatown East Gate (1939), Los Angeles Union Station (1939), and U.S. Post Office, Los Angeles Terminal Annex (1940).

Many of the bridges that span the Los Angeles River and adjacent railroad tracks are designated resources, including the Broadway/Buena Vista Street Viaduct (1909), Main Street Viaduct (1910), Ninth Street/Olympic Boulevard Viaduct (1925), Macy Street/Cesar Chavez Viaduct (1926), First Street Viaduct (1927), Seventh Street Viaduct (1927), Spring Street Viaduct (1927), Fourth Street Viaduct (1931), Washington Boulevard Viaduct (1931), and Sixth Street Viaduct (1932, recently demolished).

Designated historic districts include New Chinatown and Greater Chinatown, which were surveyed by the Community Redevelopment Agency (CRA) in 1982. These historic districts were determined eligible for listing in the National Register through the federal Section 106 review process and are listed in the California Register.

---

29 For the most up-to-date information on designated resources, go to zimas.lacity.org or www.HistoricPlacesLA.org, or contact the Department of City Planning’s Office of Historic Resources. 30 The CRA districts were called the East of Hill Street Chinatown District and West of Hill Street Chinatown District respectively. The names were changed for SurveyLA to more accurately reflect historic names.
Designated Resources Map.

Central City North
Designated Resources

Legend
- City Historic Cultural Monuments (CHCM)
- Listed in the National Register, Listed in the California Register (Status Code 1)
- Determined eligible to be on the National Register (Listed in the California Register (Status Code 2)
- City Historic Preservation Overlay Zone (PHOZ)

SurveyLA
Central City North Community Plan Area
Community Plan Area Survey Methodology

The field survey was conducted using the methodology established by the Office of Historic Resources for SurveyLA, which includes the citywide Historic Context Statement and customized mobile Field Guide Survey System (FiGSS).31

The field work was conducted in two phases: Reconnaissance and Documentation. The Reconnaissance Phase was conducted by a team of qualified survey professionals, all of whom meet the Secretary of the Interior's Professional Qualifications Standards. This phase involved a detailed and methodical review of each neighborhood, street, and individual property within the Survey Area. It was during this phase that decisions were made about which properties and districts should be documented, and how those properties should be evaluated. By making these decisions up front and as a team, this methodology ensures a more thoughtful approach to resource identification and evaluation, creates greater consensus among the field survey teams, and produces more consistent survey results. This approach also substantially streamlines the next phase of field survey, enabling the field teams to document large numbers of properties quickly and efficiently.

Once the Reconnaissance Phase was completed, the Documentation Phase began. During this phase, field work was conducted by teams of two. Properties that were identified during the previous phase, along with those that had significant associative qualities identified in pre-loaded data in FiGSS, were documented and evaluated for potential historic, cultural, or architectural significance. Documentation included a digital photograph, recordation of historic features and subsequent alterations, and the reason for a property's potential historic significance. It is also during this phase that contexts and themes are applied and evaluation status codes are assigned. All field work was conducted from the public right-of-way. Following the completion of field work, all survey data was reviewed in detail by a qualified survey professional to ensure accuracy and consistency throughout.

In addition to identifying significant properties based on physical characteristics as observed from the public right-of-way, some properties in the Survey Area may be significant for historic associations, such as an association with an important person or group. To address this, extensive research was conducted prior to fieldwork to assist surveyors in identifying potentially significant properties. Sources included building permits, Sanborn maps, historic photos, historic and contemporary aerial images, city directories, genealogical records, voter registration records, census records, and historical newspapers and periodicals. Research for SurveyLA utilizes the collections of the Los Angeles Public Library; University of Southern California (USC); University of California, Los Angeles (UCLA); Huntington Library; Historical Los Angeles Times; the Online Archive of California; and the Pacific Coast Architecture Database, among others.

31 For more information about the SurveyLA methodology, see the SurveyLA Field Results Master Report.
Summary of Findings

The following discussion of Property Types, Contexts, and Themes relates to the resources identified and recorded as eligible for designation.

Summary of Property Types

The Central City North CPA contains a diverse range of extant property types, representing a number of periods of development. The following is a brief summary of those property types that were documented and evaluated as historically, culturally, or architecturally significant.

Residential Properties

The survey identified a number of single-family residences dating from the 1880s and 1890s, primarily Victorian vernacular in style, which represent the area's earliest residential development. As this is one of the older parts of the city, many residences remain from this period; however, only those which retain integrity were identified. Some of the best examples were also evaluated for their architectural merit.

Commercial Properties

A number of commercial properties were identified by the survey, including several early service stations, a Googie-style restaurant, an early hotel, and several bank buildings. A number of long-time neighborhood businesses were identified – including markets, restaurants, and art and jewelry stores – many of which have historic associations with the Italian American or Chinese American communities that historically resided in this part of the city. The survey identified two significant commercial centers in Chinatown, evaluated as historic districts. Both of these districts were also evaluated as examples of Asian Eclectic commercial architecture.

Institutional Properties

The survey identified several important religious institutions – including churches, religious schools, and a Zen Buddhist temple – many of which are associated with the local Italian American or Chinese American communities. The survey also identified a number of Chinese benevolent associations in the Chinatown area. Two early LAUSD school buildings were identified. The survey evaluated several public utility buildings, including properties associated with the Department of Water and Power, the Metropolitan Water District of Southern California, the Southern California Gas
Company, and Edison Electric. Finally, two former sites of important music venues were identified.

**Industrial Properties**

The survey identified a substantial number of early industrial properties within Central City North’s industrial zone. Primary industrial types include factories and warehouses. Identified factory buildings represent a wide range of manufacturing activities dating from the early decades of the 20th century. Industries include food processing (flour, sugar, dairy products, coffee, spices, pickles and vinegar, nuts, dried fruit, meat and poultry); as well as the manufacture of various durable goods, from industrial materials (glass, wire, paint, brass and copper, plywood, flooring, chemicals, plumbing supplies, cotton, feed, fertilizer) to finished products (doors and windows, furniture and mattresses, automobiles, tractors, toys, stationery, boxes and bags, appliances). Warehouses range from general storage space, to dedicated storage for a particular company, to ice manufacturing and cold storage. In some instances, the factory or warehouse facility was historically associated with a national brand, such as Coca-Cola, Pillsbury, Maxwell House, Hills Bros., Nabisco, and Ford. Due to the inherent flexibility of many industrial building types, factories and warehouses often accommodated various industrial activities over time. Some of the best examples were also evaluated as excellent representations of an architectural style or as the work of a noted architect.

In addition to properties identified as individually significant, the northern portion of Central City North’s industrial zone was identified as a historic district. This area is significant as Los Angeles’ primary industrial district from the late-19th century through World War II.

**Other Properties**

The survey identified a number of unique property types. Examples include three concrete grade separations, three World War II-era air raid sirens, and a 1960s neon pole sign. Several examples of public art historically associated with the local Italian American and Chinese American communities have been identified for future consideration.
Summary of Contexts and Themes

Many of the Contexts and Themes developed for the SurveyLA Citywide Historic Context Statement are represented in the Central City North CPA. The following is a representative sampling of some of the more common Context/Theme combinations used in the survey, as well as some examples that are specific to this part of the city. Each Context/Theme is illustrated with specific examples from the Survey Area.

For a complete list of individual resources identified as meeting eligibility standards and criteria for the National Register, California Register, and/or local listing, see Appendix A.

For a complete list of non-parcel resources identified as meeting eligibility standards and criteria for the National Register, California Register, and/or local listing, see Appendix B.

For a complete list of historic districts identified as meeting eligibility standards and criteria for the National Register, California Register, and/or local listing, see Appendix C. This appendix also includes Planning Districts, which do not meet eligibility standards and criteria for listing but may warrant special consideration for local planning purposes.
Context: Residential Development & Suburbanization, 1850-1980
Theme: Early Residential Development, 1880-1930
Sub-Theme: Early Single-Family Residential Development, 1880-1930

This Context/Theme was used to evaluate intact single-family residences representing the earliest residential development in Central City North, dating from the late-19th and early-20th century. While a number of residences from this period remain in this part of the city, only intact examples were identified as significant. Many of the residences identified under this Context/Theme were also evaluated for their architectural merit. The residence at 411 W Bernard Street, along with its look-alike next door neighbor, is currently owned by the Chinese Historical Society of Southern California.

Address: 411 W Bernard Street
Date: 1886

Address: 920 W New Depot Street
Date: 1899

Address: 451 E Savoy Street
Date: 1896

Address: 825 W Bartlett Street
Date: 1898
Context: Commercial Development, 1850-1980
Theme: Streetcar Commercial Development, 1873-1934

This Context/Theme was used to evaluate two intact examples of mixed-use buildings designed to accommodate live/work use oriented to streetcar service. Both identified examples are located in the Chinatown area of Central City North. The example at 301 W. Ord Street is also the home the Phoenix Inn Chinese restaurant. Opened in 1965 by Chef Katai Chang and his wife, May, the business is now run by their son, Tom Chang. The Phoenix Inn brand has been expanded to fourteen locations throughout Southern California, including several in the west San Gabriel Valley. The Phoenix Inn was also evaluated under the Commercial Identity theme as a long-standing neighborhood business.

Address: 301 W Ord Street
Name: Phoenix Inn
Date: 1906

Address: 1035 N Broadway
Date: 1890
Context: Commercial Development, 1850-1980
Theme: Commercial Development & the Automobile, 1910-1980
Sub-Theme: The Car & Car Services, 1910-1969

This Context/Theme was used to evaluate two rare remaining examples of mid-century service stations. The example at 500 S Alameda Street was originally a Richfield station and features oversized vehicular bays to accommodate large trucks from the adjacent industrial area.

Address: 500 S Alameda Street
Date: 1949

Address: 407 W Bernard Street
Date: 1951
Context: Commercial Development, 1850-1980
Theme: Banks & Financial Institutions, 1870-1980

This Context/Theme was used to evaluate several examples of early or excellent neighborhood bank buildings in Central City North. Two banks from the 1920s were identified in the industrial zone. Cathay Bank was evaluated as an excellent example of a 1960s bank building, as well as for its architectural merit. Designed by noted Chinese American architect Eugene Kinn Choy, this building is a unique blend of New Formalism, a popular style for bank buildings from this period, with elements of the Asian Eclectic style, creating a design that was particularly suited to its time and place in 1960s Chinatown. Cathay Bank is also significant as the first bank in Los Angeles to be operated by Chinese Americans.

Address: 2001 E 7th Street
Name: Merchants National Bank
Date: 1924

Address: 2353 E Olympic Boulevard
Name: E.M. Smith Store & Bank
Date: 1924

Address: 777 N Broadway
Name: Cathay Bank
Date: 1966
**Context: Commercial Development, 1850-1980**
**Theme: Commercial Identity, 1850-1980**

This Context/Theme was used to evaluate two pedestrian commercial centers in Chinatown for their important associations with Los Angeles’ Chinese American community – the New Chinatown Historic District and the Greater Chinatown Historic District. Both of these historic districts were also evaluated for their architectural merit as excellent collections of Asian Eclectic architecture.

The New Chinatown Historic District has served as the cultural heart and primary gathering place for Los Angeles’ Chinese American community since its relocation in 1938. The development was initiated by businessman and community leader Peter Soo Hoo, Sr. in response to the displacement of the occupants of “Old Chinatown.” New Chinatown deliberately incorporated romantic stereotypes associated with China, in an effort to counter common perceptions of Chinatowns as dangerous neighborhoods of crime-filled alleyways. The new development opened to the public on June 25, 1938 as “Los Angeles Chinatown.” Unlike the previous centers of Chinese residency in Los Angeles, this was the first Chinese enclave to be owned and developed by Chinese Americans.

Located between Hill Street and Broadway, the development is organized around five intersecting pedestrian streets. Asian Eclectic in style, buildings display complex rooflines with colorful tiles, flared eaves with decoratively carved roof beams, geometric window screens, representations of various animals, and colored neon. The district is marked by two monumental gateways; a paved Central Plaza serves as the development’s main gathering space. The district is occupied by a variety of neighborhood- and tourist-serving retail and office uses. Long-time establishments include K.G. Louie Co., The Golden Pagoda (Hop Louie), and the Grand Star Jazz Club. Other features include ornamental street lights, hanging lanterns, a wishing well, and a fish pool. The district also incorporates several examples of public art, including murals; a statue of Dr. Sun Yat-Sen, founding father of the Republic of China; and a monument to Peter Soo Hoo and Herbert Lapham, developers of New Chinatown.

*Description: West Gate*
*Date: 1938*

*Description: W Gin Ling Way*
*Date: 1938*
The Greater Chinatown Historic District is an important mixed-use development owned and operated by Chinese American merchants following their relocation in 1938. The development was commissioned by the Los Angeles Chinatown Corporation (LACC) in 1947 in response to the success of New Chinatown, situated just across Hill Street. Utilizing a similar development structure, Chinese American civic leaders and business owners collaborated to develop a plan for a pedestrian commercial center composed of nine two-story buildings containing a total of fifty-five units to be leased to Chinese Americans. Unlike New Chinatown, in Greater Chinatown the upper floors are residential, allowing merchants to live above their shops. Thus, some units feature projecting balconies overlooking the pedestrian streets below. The development is oriented around a paved central plaza, known as Chungking Plaza or West Plaza, anchored by a landscaped water feature. Stylistically, Greater Chinatown references the Asian Eclectic vocabulary of New Chinatown, but in a much more simplified manner.
Central City North Community Plan Area

Description: N Hill Street  
Date: 1949

Description: Chungking Plaza  
Date: 1947

Description: Chung King Road  
Date: 1949-1950

Description: N Hill Street  
Date: 1947

Description: Chung King Road  
Date: 1949-1950

Description: Chung King Court  
Date: 1947
This Context/Theme was also used to evaluate a number of long-time neighborhood businesses. Philippe the Original, home of the French-dipped sandwich, is one of Los Angeles’ oldest and most iconic restaurants. Opened in 1908, Philippe’s has been at its current location north of downtown Los Angeles since 1951. The family-owned Phoenix Bakery was founded in 1938 and moved to its current location in 1977. The Eastside Market Italian Deli, established in 1929, is a remnant of Los Angeles’ Little Italy neighborhood, which is no longer extant. Superior Poultry, also a remnant of Little Italy, has been in operation since the early 1930s. Established by two Chinese owners, the business was acquired by Italian American Mike Frontino in 1932, and provided fresh poultry for many Chinese restaurants on Spring Street and in Old Chinatown. They have been at their current location since at least 1943. Morgan Laundry Service has been in their current building since at least 1928; today they operate as Morgan Garment & Linen Service.

Chinatown retains a number of early Chinese-owned business, some of which migrated from Old Chinatown. K.G. Louie Co., a long-time art and gift store, was originally established in downtown Los Angeles and moved to its New Chinatown location in 1938. Jin Hing Jewelry Co. opened in Old Chinatown in 1933, relocating to Bamboo Lane in 1950. Today it is one of the oldest continuously operating Chinese jewelry/antique stores in Los Angeles. F. See On, a long-time art and antique shop, is one of the oldest family-owned Asian art stores in Los Angeles. The store was originally established by the Fong family in Sacramento in 1872, and moved to Los Angeles in 1881. The business moved to its current location in Greater Chinatown in 1947 and is still run by the Fong family. Hop Louie, originally known as the Golden Pagoda restaurant, has been in continuous operation at its New Chinatown location since 1941. The Quon Brothers Grand Star Jazz Club, a long-time music venue in Chinatown, has been owned and managed by the Quon family since 1946.

**Address:** 1001 N Alameda Street  
**Name:** Philippe The Original  
**Date:** 1951 (this location)

**Address:** 969 N Broadway  
**Name:** Phoenix Bakery  
**Date:** 1977 (this location)
Address: 1013 W Alpine Street  
Name: Eastside Market Italian Deli  
Date: 1929

Address: 432 W Gin Ling Way  
Name: K.G. Louie Co.  
Date: 1938 (this location)

Address: 412 W Bamboo Lane  
Name: Jin Hing Jewelry Co.  
Date: 1950 (this location)

Address: 943 N Sun Mun Way  
Name: Quon Brothers Grand Star Jazz Club  
Date: 1942

Address: 750 N Broadway  
Name: Superior Poultry  
Date: circa 1943 (this location)

Address: 507 W Chung King Court  
Name: F. See On Company  
Date: 1947 (this location)
Address: 905 N Yale Street  
Name: Morgan Laundry Service  
Date: circa 1928

Address: 950 N Mei Ling Way  
Name: Hop Louie  
Date: 1941
Sub-Context: Religion & Spirituality, 1850-1980
Theme: Religion & Spirituality and Ethnic Cultural Associations, 1850-1980

This Context/Theme was used to evaluate significant examples of religious properties with ethnic/cultural associations. St. Peter's Catholic Church has served as a gathering place for Italians not only in Little Italy, but the greater Los Angeles area, since 1904. The current church building dates to 1946; the parish hall, known as “Casa Italiana,” or Italian Hall, was added in 1972 to serve as a social and cultural center for Italian Americans citywide. The Zenshuji Soto Mission was established in 1922, making it the first Soto Zen Buddhist temple in North America. It has occupied this site near Little Tokyo since at least 1967; earlier buildings were demolished to make way for the current temple building, completed in 1971. The Chinese United Methodist Church was designed by noted Chinese American architect Gilbert Leong, and has served Chinatown’s Methodist community since 1947. St. Anthony’s Croatian Catholic Church dates to 1910 and was designed by noted architect A. C. Martin.

The Saint Francis Xavier Church and School property is situated near Little Tokyo and contains a school building with rectory and auditorium additions, and a Catholic church. The Saint Francis Xavier parish was originally established in 1912 by Father Albert Breton, making it the first Catholic mission dedicated to Japanese in America. In 1920, the Maryknoll Sisters and Fathers assumed responsibility for the mission and relocated to its current site. The Maryknoll School opened in 1921, and the church was dedicated in 1939.

Address: 700 W Alpine Street
Name: Saint Anthony's Croatian Catholic Church
Date: 1910

Address: 825 N Hill Street
Name: Chinese United Methodist Church
Date: 1947
Address: 111 S Hewitt Street
Name: Zenshuji Soto Mission
Date: 1971

Address: 1039 N Broadway
Name: St. Peter’s Italian Catholic Church
Date: 1946

Address: 222-232 S Hewitt Street
Name: Saint Francis Xavier Church
Date: 1939

Address: 222-232 S Hewitt Street
Name: Saint Francis Xavier School
Date: 1921
Sub-Context: Social Clubs & Organizations, 1850-1980
Theme: Social Clubs & Ethnic/Cultural Associations, 1850-1980

This Context/Theme was used to evaluate buildings associated with Chinese benevolent associations in Los Angeles’ Chinatown. Chinese benevolent associations are charitable organizations established to provide for the needs of Chinese immigrants, such as social welfare and cultural activities, in order to preserve the culture and traditions of Chinese people. Benevolent associations were often organized around villages or surnames, serving immigrants who shared a common dialect or place of origin. Some seventeen Chinese benevolent associations remain in operation in Chinatown today, many of which were originally founded in San Francisco in the late-19th century, establishing a Los Angeles chapter in the early-20th century. In a number of instances, the Los Angeles chapters were first established in Old Chinatown, moving to their current location following Chinatown’s relocation. Some examples identified under this theme were also evaluated as excellent examples of Asian Eclectic architecture.

Address: 925 N Broadway
Name: Chinese Consolidated Benevolent Association
Date: 1951 (this location)

Address: 989 N Broadway
Name: Lung Kong Tin Yee Association
Date: 1949

Address: 933 N Broadway
Name: Kong Chow Benevolent Association
Date: 1960 (this location)

Address: 428 W Gin King Way
Name: Hop Sing Tong
Date: 1940 (this location)
Address: 510 W BERNARD ST  
Name: Kow Kong Benevolent Association  
Date: 1955 (this location)

Address: 744 N Broadway  
Name: Wong Family Benevolent Association  
Date: 1951 (this location)

Address: 424 W Bernard Street  
Name: Ying On Association  
Date: 1949 (this location)

Address: 972 Chung King Road  
Name: Hoy San Ning Yung Benevolent Association  
Date: 1950

Address: 991 N Broadway  
Name: Soo Yuen Fraternal Association  
Date: 1949

Address: 415 W Bamboo Lane  
Name: Chinese American Citizens Alliance  
Date: 1956 (this location)
These Context/Themes were used to evaluate examples of important school buildings in Central City North. Identified examples include buildings associated with the Los Angeles Unified School District, as well as schools with an important ethnic/cultural association. The campus of Evans Community High School (originally Betsy Ross High School) includes a very rare and intact 1918 school building. The Castelar Street School is the second-oldest continually operating school in the LAUSD, dating back to 1882. Its current campus retains its original 1923 building, representing LAUSD school construction from the period pre-dating the 1933 Long Beach Earthquake. This school was also evaluated for its association with the local Chinese American community; it is the first school in the district to offer tri-lingual instruction (English, Spanish, and Chinese). The Chinese Confucius Temple School was also identified for its role in the Chinese American community. The school was established by the Chinese Consolidated Benevolent Association in 1952 to provide Chinese language instruction with the tenets of Confucianism.

Address: 850 N Yale Street
Name: Castelar Street School
Date: 1923

Address: 717 N Figueroa Street
Name: Evans Community High School
Date: 1918

32 Additional campus buildings constructed in 1977 were designed by noted architect Eugene Kinn Choy.
Address: 816 N Yale Street
Name: Chinese Confucius Temple School
Date: 1951
Sub-Context: Military Institutions and Activities, 1850-1980
Theme: Air Raid Sirens and Civil Defense, 1939-1960

Air raid sirens were evaluated under this Context/Theme for their association with World War II and Cold War military infrastructure in Los Angeles. Three examples were identified in Central City North: one is situated along the 10 Freeway, one is next to Dodger Stadium, and one is adjacent to a school.

**Location:** Stadium Way near Coronel
**Name:** Air Raid Siren No. 40
**Date:** circa 1940

**Location:** Figueroa Street near Bartlett
**Name:** Air Raid Siren No. 91
**Date:** circa 1940

**Location:** Elwood Street near 14th
**Name:** Air Raid Siren No. 71
**Date:** circa 1940
Context: Industrial Development, 1850-1980
Theme: Early Industrial Development, 1880-1945

This Context/Theme was used to evaluate an excellent and rare example of early industrial development in Central City North. Examples date from the 1880s to the early 1930s, and primarily consist of factory and warehouse buildings. Warehouses associated with specific companies include those for Broadway Department Store, J.M. Overall Furniture Company, Aggeler & Musser Seed Co., and the Joannes Bros. Co., a local tea, coffee and spice retailer. General storage warehouses include Pacific Commercial Warehouse, Metropolitan Warehouse Co., Star Truck & Warehouse Co., and Overland Terminal Produce Warehouse. Factory buildings include the Brinstool Paint Co. building, which originally served as a factory for paint, oils and varnishes. The oldest industrial building identified in this survey is the California Vinegar & Pickle Co. building. Known as “The Pickleworks,” the building was originally constructed in 1888 and expanded in 1905. Today, it is one of the last surviving Victorian-era industrial buildings in Los Angeles.33

Several of these building have been converted into residential or other non-industrial uses in recent decades. The Star Truck & Warehouse Co. building is now the Toy Factory Lofts, referencing its last industrial use as an assembly plant for stuffed animals. Designed by H.L. Gilman, who later became staff architect for the Santa Fe Railroad, the building features a curved façade which follows what was once a rail spur. Similarly, the J.M. Overall Furniture Company Factory & Warehouse is now the Art House Live Work Lofts. The Dohrman Commercial Co. is currently occupied by the Factory Kitchen restaurant.

Also evaluated under this Context/Theme is the Hills Bros. Coffee Co. property, which includes a 1929 office building and a warehouse building added in 1948. Hills Bros. was established in San Francisco in 1882, and was best known for their use of vacuum-sealed tins and jars which made coffee readily available for retail use. The Los Angeles office building was designed San Francisco-based architect George W. Kelham, who also designed Hills Bros.’ flagship building situated along the Embarcadero. Kelham was a master architect in his own right. In the Bay Area, he served as chief architect for the 1915 Panama-Pacific International Exposition in San Francisco, and designed several buildings on the U.C. Berkeley campus. In Los Angeles, Kelham is best known for designing the original campus buildings at UCLA, thereby establishing the university’s architectural vocabulary. The Hills Bros. office building was also evaluated for its architectural merit.

33 This property was determined eligible for listing in the National Register through the Section 106 Review process. A 75-foot section of the building was subsequently demolished, in anticipation of a project to widen the adjacent First Street Bridge. The property may not retain National Register eligibility as indicated in a more recent study.
Address: 635 S Mateo Street
Name: Hills Bros. Coffee
Date: 1929

Address: 544 S Mateo Street
Name: Brinstool Paint Co.
Date: 1908

Address: 924 E 2nd Street
Name: Pacific Commercial Warehouse
Date: 1910

Address: 1308 E Factory Place
Name: Broadway Department Store, Inc.
Date: 1923

Address: 1340 E 6th Street
Name: Metropolitan Warehouse Co.
Date: 1924

Address: 1855 E Industrial Street
Name: Star Truck & Warehouse Co.
Date: 1924
SurveyLA
Central City North Community Plan Area
Context: Industrial Development, 1850-1980
Sub-Context: Manufacturing for the Masses, 1883-1989
Theme: Food Processing, 1883-1965
Sub-Theme: Flour Mills, 1887-1955

This Context/Theme was used to evaluate two excellent and rare examples of early-20th century flour mill buildings. The Globe Mills building served as the offices for the Globe Grain & Milling Co. complex (A-1 Globe Mills); it is now occupied by the Hauser, Wirth & Schimmel art gallery. The Sperry Flour Co. was founded in 1852 in Stockton, and arrived in Los Angeles in 1903, when it constructed the existing building to serve as a mill and office. Sperry Flour operated at this site until 1929, when it was acquired by General Mills. The building is now occupied by the Para Los Niños educational center.

Address: 907 E 3rd Street
Name: Globe Grain & Milling Co.
Date: 1924

Address: 1617 E 7th Street
Name: Sperry Flour Co.
Date: 1930
Context: Industrial Development, 1850-1980  
Sub-Context: Manufacturing for the Masses, 1883-1989  
Theme: Factories, 1887-1980

This Context/Theme was used to evaluate important examples of industrial factories in Central City North. The three-story brick factory building at Alameda Street and Traction Avenue was built in 1913 for John A. Roebling’s Sons Company, a Trenton, New Jersey-based company specializing in the manufacture of wire rope and other steel products. The metal warehouse was added in 1924 and served as wire storage. Roebling’s Sons Company was responsible for the steel suspension cables for the Brooklyn Bridge, and for the popular toy, The Slinky. Today, the buildings are occupied by Angel City Brewing. The factory building was also evaluated as an excellent example of the daylight factory building type, and as the work of noted architects Hudson & Munsel.

The brick-and-concrete factory building at 4th and Merrick Streets was built by the internationally-known Coca-Cola Company to produce syrup for its sodas. The original portion of the building was constructed in 1915, designed by E.A. Stuhrman. The building was substantially expanded and remodeled in the popular Late Moderne style in 1939, by Coca-Cola architect Jesse M. Shelton. Shelton was an Atlanta-based architect, and designed a number of factories for the Coca-Cola Company during the 1930s and the 1940s, including those in Baltimore, New Orleans, and Boston, all of which strongly resemble this building.

Address: 216 S Alameda Street  
Name: John A. Roebling’s Sons Company  
Date: 1913

Address: 947 E 4th Street  
Name: Coca-Cola Syrup Manufacturing Plant  
Date: 1915; remodeled 1939
Context: Industrial Development, 1850-1980
Theme: Industrial Design & Engineering, 1887-1965

This Context/Theme was used to evaluate excellent examples of important early industrial building types, including daylight factories and industrial lofts. Examples identified in Central City North primarily date from the teens through the 1920s. Industrial lofts are characterized by the vertical organization of manufacturing activities, typically with machinery on the ground floor, assembly and storage above, and offices on the top floors. The Diamond Walnut Co. building was identified as an example of this industrial type. Constructed in 1921 for the California Walnut Growers Association (later the Diamond Walnut California Walnut Growers Association), the building’s interior organization is reflected in its exterior design.

Daylight factories were designed to maximize the amount of light reaching the interior of the building. They are characterized by bays of large industrial sash windows, saw-tooth or monitor roofs, and skylights. Identified examples include the Cheek-Neal Coffee Co. (later Maxwell House) factory, the Southern California Gas Co. Stationery & Printing Dept. building, and the C.B. Van Vorst Co. furniture and mattress factory. The Van Vorst Co. factory building is part of a 1916 manufacturing complex that also includes a mill and a storage/showroom building, with an assembly building added in 1924. The factory building was designed by John M. Cooper, who specialized in industrial architecture in the Los Angeles area. The complex is now occupied by the Santa Fe Art Colony.

Address: 1745 E 7th Street
Name: Diamond Walnut Co.
Date: 1921

Address: 405 S Mateo Street
Name: Cheek-Neal Coffee Co.; Maxwell House
Date: 1924
**Address:** 542 S Alameda Street  
**Name:** Southern California Gas Co.  
**Date:** 1930

**Address:** 2349 S Santa Fe Avenue  
**Name:** C.B. Van Vorst Co.  
**Date:** 1916
Context: Architecture & Engineering, 1850-1980
Theme: Late-19th and Early-20th Century Architecture, 1865-1950
Sub-Theme: Vernacular Hipped Cottage, 1885-1905
Sub-Theme: Vernacular Gabled Cottage, 1885-1905

This Context/Theme was used to evaluate excellent examples of Victorian vernacular residential architecture, dating from the 1880s and 1890s. While this area of the city retains a number of residences from this period, most have been altered over time. Therefore, intact examples were identified as significant. Residences identified under this Context/Theme were also evaluated as early residential development. The residence at 415 W Bernard Street, along with its look-alike next door neighbor, is currently owned by the Chinese Historical Society of Southern California.

Address: 747 N Hill Place
Date: 1885

Address: 812 S New Depot Street
Date: 1895

Address: 808 N Depot Street
Date: 1895

Address: 415 W Bernard Street
Date: 1892
Context: Architecture & Engineering, 1850-1980
Theme: Exotic Revivals, 1900-1980
Sub-Theme: Asian Eclectic, 1938-1980

This Context/Theme was used to evaluate excellent examples of Asian Eclectic architecture, primarily in the Chinatown area of Central City North. Features of the style include complex rooflines with colorful tiles, flared eaves with decoratively carved roof beams, geometric window screens, and representations of various animals, such as dragons, lions, and fish. Variations of the style in Central City North range from exuberant examples, such as those in the New Chinatown commercial development, to more restrained versions, as displayed in the Greater Chinatown development. A 1960s gas station in Chinatown represents an unusual application of the style.

Two mid-century buildings, both designed by noted Chinese American architect Eugene Kinn Choy, are outstanding architectural examples which blend the Asian Eclectic style with a popular style of the period. The Chinese Consolidated Benevolent Association is an excellent example of Mid-Century Modernism, while incorporating elements of Asian Eclecticism, such as clay tiles, decoratively carved roof beams, and lion statues. The result is a design particularly suited to its time and place in 1950s Chinatown. Similarly, Choy’s design for Cathay Bank combines elements of New Formalism, a popular style for bank architecture from this period, with Asian Eclectic features, resulting in a completely original design. Both of Choy’s buildings are highly intact.

Location: New Chinatown
Address: 949 N Sun Mun Way
Date: 1940

Location: New Chinatown
Address: 950 N Mei Ling Way
Date: 1940
Location: New Chinatown
Address: 425 W Gin Ling Way
Date: 1940

Location: New Chinatown
Address: 432 W Gin Ling Way
Date: 1938

Location: Greater Chinatown
Description: Chung King Court
Date: 1947

Location: Greater Chinatown
Description: N Hill Street
Date: 1950

Address: 991 N Broadway
Name: Soo Yuen Fraternal Association
Date: 1949

Address: 900 N Hill Street
Name: Gas America
Date: 1966
Address: 925 N Broadway
Name: Chinese Consolidated Benevolent Association
Date: 1951

Address: 777 N Broadway
Name: Cathay Bank
Date: 1966
Context: Other Context, 1850-1980
Theme: Events or Series of Events, 1850-1980

In this Survey Area, this Context/Theme was used to evaluate the Downtown Los Angeles Industrial Historic District. This historic district is composed of an industrial zone situated between the Alameda Street corridor and the Los Angeles River, between 1st Street on the north and 7th Street on the south. The district is significant for its role in the industrial development of Los Angeles, serving as the city’s primary industrial district from the late-19th century through World War II.

The district contains 196 individual buildings, ranging from modest industrial storefronts, to purpose-built factories, to expansive warehouse buildings spanning full city blocks. While some buildings display an architectural style or represent the work of a noted architect, the majority of structures are vernacular or utilitarian in design. Additional elements of the district include the interior circulation pattern (including streets, alleys, and rail spur rights-of-way); the nearly exclusive industrial use; extensive surface parking areas, often designed to accommodate large trucks; the absence of sidewalks and street lighting in some areas; the absence of landscaping throughout the district; evidence of former rail lines (such as remnant tracks, and a rail stop); and remnant granite infrastructure (including curbs, swales, and rail beds). The district also contains a number of properties that are listed in or determined eligible for listing in the National Register, or are designated City Historic-Cultural Monuments, most notably the 1906 Santa Fe Freight Depot, and the 1925 National Biscuit Company “Nabisco” Building. The Downtown Los Angeles Industrial Historic District is a singular resource which continues to tell the story of early industrial development in Los Angeles.
Name: Downtown Los Angeles Industrial Historic District
Description: Street view

Name: Downtown Los Angeles Industrial Historic District
Description: Rail right-of-way

Name: Downtown Los Angeles Industrial Historic District
Description: Rail right-of-way

Name: Downtown Los Angeles Industrial Historic District
Description: Rail right-of-way
**Name:** Downtown Los Angeles Industrial Historic District  
**Description:** Railroad tracks

**Name:** Downtown Los Angeles Industrial Historic District  
**Description:** Rail stop

**Name:** Downtown Los Angeles Industrial Historic District  
**Description:** Granite curb

**Name:** Downtown Los Angeles Industrial Historic District  
**Description:** Granite swale

**Name:** Los Angeles Industrial Historic District  
**Description:** Granite rail beds
Context: Other Context, 1850-1980
Event or Series of Events, 1850-1980

In Central City North, this Context/Theme was used to evaluate a very early Edison electrical substation, dating from 1911. Also identified in this CPA is a rare example of a railroad interlocking tower. Constructed in 1940 to service Union Station, the interlocking tower housed a centralized group of signals with an operator to coordinated movements at this busy location.

This Context/Theme was also used to capture the sites of two important music venues. The Canadian Hotel, located in Central City North’s industrial zone, was built in 1906 as a first-class hotel for African-Americans, many of whom worked as Pullman car porters on the nearby railroad. However, the building may be better known as the former site of Al’s Bar. Al’s Bar was an important social gathering space in Los Angeles' Arts District, serving as a "town square" for artists living in the neighborhood when few community spaces existed. Al’s Bar was opened in 1979 by Marc Kreisel, one of the early artists living in the Arts District, in part of the hotel’s ground-floor retail space. The venue soon reached legendary status as the home of L.A.’s punk rock, and later grunge rock, scenes. Al’s Bar retained its gritty counter-culture atmosphere for over twenty years, closing in 2001. This building was also evaluated as an important early hotel.

A storefront in the New Chinatown commercial center is best known to many as the site of Madame Wong’s, a renowned performance venue that played a pivotal role in Los Angeles’ new wave and punk rock scenes in the 1970s and 1980s. Owned and operated by Esther Wong and her sister Cathy Wong Yee, Madame Wong’s became a formidable force in L.A. music until it was forced to close after a fire in 1985. Wong was affectionately known as "The Godmother of Punk."

Address: 2417 E Porter Street
Name: Edison Electrical Substation
Date: 1911

Address: 337 E Cesar E Chavez Avenue
Name: Interlocking Tower
Date: 1940
Address: 716 E Traction Avenue
Name: Site of Al’s Bar
Date: 1979-2001

Address: 949 N Sun Mun Way
Name: Site of Madame Wong’s
Date: 1970-1985
Context: Other Context, 1850-1980
Theme: Design/Construction, 1850-1980

In Central City North, this Context/Theme was used to evaluate three 1930s concrete bridges. The Vignes Street and Macy Street Grade Separations were constructed as part of a wider reconfiguration of transportation infrastructure in the area with the arrival of Union Station in 1939. Constructed during the Great Depression, all three bridges were funded by the Federal Emergency Administration of Public Works (later renamed the Public Works Administration).

**Location:** Vignes Street near Bauchet Street  
**Name:** Vignes Street Grade Separation  
**Date:** 1938

**Location:** Cesar Chavez Boulevard near Alameda Street  
**Name:** Macy Street Grade Separation  
**Date:** 1938

**Location:** Figueroa Street at College Street  
**Name:** Figueroa Street & College Street Grade Separation  
**Date:** 1939
For Further Reading

The following is a list of general sources on the history and development of Central City North. This list is not comprehensive but is being provided for informational purposes.


----. “Cruising Industrial Los Angeles.” Booklet produced in conjunction with a tour held on October 5, 1997.


